
MORE PROOF OF PROSECUTORIAL FRAUD  
 
Apart from calling for the dismissal of all of the (illegal) charges filed 
against us as covered in my four (4) Memorandum of Law already 
posted on my home page, I have also filed a motion to dismiss counts 
18-23.  These counts charge me with filing false and fraudulent 
returns for the years 1997 – 2002.  Those returns, of course, were 
neither false nor fraudulent as explained in footnote 3.  But even if 
they were false and fraudulent those returns cannot lawfully be used 
against me for the reason covered in the Memorandum of Law posted 
below.   Such a Motion to Dismiss should be filed by anyone charged 
with tax evasion on the bases of their having allegedly filed fraudulent 
returns.  While all of the elements contained in my Memorandum 
might not be present in all such cases, the fundamental element 
would still be present.  Anyone being persecuted for tax evasion on 
the basis of their having filed a false or fraudulent return is being 
prosecuted pursuant to a document the Government compelled 
them to file, under threat of criminal prosecution and incarceration if 
they failed to do so. As such, any such  document cannot, lawfully, 
be used against them.  What our criminal Government has been 
doing is charging those who don’t file, with “willfully failing to file.” 
and charging those who do file, with tax evasion. One doesn’t have 
to be a constitutional scholar to figure out that such a procedure has 
to be illegal on a variety of grounds.  Had Leona Helmsley’s high 
priced lawyers submitted a motion to dismiss her tax evasion charges 
and supported it with a Memoranda of Law similar to the one shown 
below, they could have prevented her prosecution. But that, of 
course, would have eliminated the $10 million in legal fees they 
earned from her illegal prosecution and subsequent appeal.    
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IRWIN A. SCHIFF, IN PRO PER 
444 EAST SAHARA  
LAS VAGAS, NV 89104 
PHONE:  702 385-6920 
FAX:       702 385-6981 
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT           
DISTRICT OF NEVADA 

 
 

UNITED STATES                        )      CASE NO:  CR-S-04-0119-KJD (LRL)       
     )    
  Plaintiff  )     
     )     DEFENDANT’S   MOTION                                                         
V     )      TO DISMISS COUNTS 18-23    

)      BECAUSE THE TAX RETURNS   
IRWIN SCHIFF, CYNTHIA NEUN  )      AT ISSUE WERE NOT FILED   
And LAWRENCE N. COHEN, a/k/a/)      VOLUNTARILY  
LARRY COHEN,                               )         
     )          
  Defendants.                 ) 
______________________________) 
 
 
 COMES NOW Defendant Irwin Schiff and requests that the Court dismiss counts 18 – 

23, since in these counts the Government has alleged an offense for which no prosecution is 

possible ---as the following will show.  And in filing this Motion Defendant Schiff is not waiving 

his claim that this Court has no subject matter jurisdiction to conduct a criminal trial involving 

the Federal income tax for all of the reasons set forth in Schiff’s four motions and memoranda of 

law which he filed on April 1, 2004 and which the Government has still failed to answer and this 

Court has failed to address.   

 
 Counts 18-23 charge Defendant Irwin Schiff, in pertinent part, with filing “U.S. 

Individual Income Tax Returns, Forms 1040, for the calendar years (1998-2002)…. which said 

income tax returns defendant IRWIN SCHIFF did not believe to be true and correct as to every 

material matter…etc., etc., etc.” 

 Defendant Irwin Schiff has been imprisoned twice for failing to file income tax returns.  

He was originally convicted in 1979 on two counts of “willful failure to file” which were initially 

reversed and remanded, United States v. Schiff, 612 F.2d 73 (1979).  A subsequent retrial 
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conviction was affirmed on appeal, without an opinion U.S. v. Schiff, 80-1297 (1/28/81).  

However, in the initial reversal, U.S. v. Schiff, supra, the Second Circuit said:  “The defense did 

not seriously contend that the conglomeration of papers filed with the almost blank 1040 form 

constituted the tax return required by law.” (Emphasis added)  So here the 2nd Circuit held 

that Schiff was  “required by law” to file income tax returns.   However, further on in that 

decision the 2nd Circuit also noted, (at p. 83) “On appeal, the appellant emphasizes that a person 

filling out a tax form is a ‘witness’ for the purposes of the Fifth Amendment.  Clearly, this is the 

rule.  See Garner v. United States, 424 U.S. 648, 656, 98 S.Ct. 1178, 47 L.Ed.2d 370 (1976); 

United States v. Sullivan, supra.”  So, as the 2nd Circuit also recognized, there is no question that 

a person filing a 1040 “is a witness (against himself) for the purpose of the Fifth Amendment.”  

Obviously, Congress cannot pass a law requiring Americans to be witnesses against themselves 

in this manner. 1  

In 1985 Schiff was charged with income tax evasion for the years 1980 – 1983.  An 

element of that charge was Schiff’s failure to file income tax returns for those years.   As stated 

in U.S. v. Schiff, 801 F.2d.108 (1986) (at page 115),  “The first three counts of the indictment 

charged Schiff with attempting to ‘evade and defeat’ the income tax he owed by failing to make 

income tax returns, failing to pay income tax and concealing and attempting to conceal his 

income.”  (Emphasis added)   The 2nd Circuit affirmed Schiff’s conviction, despite the fact that 

Judge Peter Dorsey instructed the jury that it could find Schiff guilty of income tax evasion even 

if the jury did not find that Schiff committed an affirmative act of evasion – i.e. even if the jury 

did not find that he “concealed” his income as charged in the indictment. 2 

So Schiff has been twice prosecuted and twice convicted on the basis of his not filing 

income tax returns.  Therefore to avoid being charged again with failing to file, Schiff started, in 

                                                 
1 Dispute this clear recognition by the 2nd Circuit that the 5th Amendment would bar Congress from passing a law 
that would “require” Americans to provide information on tax returns that could be used against them, the 2nd 
Circuit still sustained Schiff conviction in its second, unreported decision.  The obvious clash between the Fifth 
Amendment and an alleged law that “required” persons to provide information that could be used against them – 
which the 2nd Circuit obviously recognized – was ignored by the 2nd Circuit in ultimately sustaining Schiff’s 
conviction. This issue was never raised or argued at Schiff’s trials or appeals.  
2 Since “concealment” was the “affirmative act” of evasion charged in the indictment, without concealment being 
proven, Schiff was obviously never convicted of tax evasion.  As pointed out in an article that appeared in the 
February, 1987 issue of  “The Journal of Taxation,” the author pointed out that Schiff was convicted “solely on the 
basis of conduct constituting only the misdemeanors of failure to file and failure to pay.”   
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approximately 1989, with filing tax returns on which he reported “zero” income. 3  On all the 

returns at issue (with the exception of his 2002 return) Schiff stated, in relevant part,  “(E)ven 

though I know that no section of the Internal Revenue Code: 1) Establishes an income tax 

‘liability’… (and)…2) Provides that income taxes ‘have to be paid on the basis of a return’….I 

am filing anyway …Therefore this return is not being filed voluntarily, but is being filed out 

of fear that if I did not file this return I could be (illegally) prosecuted for failing to file an 

income tax return for (each of the years at issue).”  4  Therefore, none of the returns on which 

counts 18-23 are based involve information that was voluntarily given to the Government.  The 

returns at issue are no more legally valid and lawfully capable of being introduced and used 

against Schiff than had they been extracted from him by the use of a rack or a thumbscrew.  

What can be plainer than that?  

In any case, in counts 26 – 28 defendant Cynthia Neun is charged with “willfully failing 

to timely file” income tax returns for the years 1999-2001.  The indictment also states that “the 

law required her to file a U.S. Individual Income Tax Return with the Internal Revenue Service” 

for those years.  Therefore, according to the Government, Defendant Schiff was “required” to 

file income tax returns for all of the years covered in counts 18-23 in which Schiff is charged 

with “Filing False Federal Income Tax Returns,” and if he failed to file returns for those years, 

he risked being charged with willful failure to file in the same manner as he has been charged 

in the past, and as Defendant Neun was charged in Counts 26-28 of the instant indictment.   

Therefore, it is clear that the government compelled Defendant Schiff to file all the tax 

returns on which Counts 18 – 23 are based, under threat of criminal prosecution and 

imprisonment if he failed to do so.  Therefore, all the information contained in Schiff’s 1997 – 

2002 tax returns was compelled under threat of criminal prosecution and imprisonment if he 

failed to supply the requested information.    Rule 11(c)(3) of the Fed. Rules of Crim. P. states 

that a defendant has “the right against compelled self-incrimination.”  Obviously, the 

contemplated use against Schiff of his  “compelled” 1997-2002 tax returns, is an obvious 

example of “compelled self-incrimination” in blatant violation of Rule 11(c)(3) – to say nothing 

of the 5th Amendment.   Clearly, whatever information the Government claims is false and 
                                                 
3 Since Schiff never received any “income” in the “constitutional sense,” as referred to by Congress in Senate Report 
1622, and House Report 1337 (83rd Congress, 2d Session, when it adopted the 1954 Code), the “zero”  “income” 
Schiff reported on his “zero” returns was legally truthful and correct.  
4 While defendant Schiff  neglected to specifically put this statement on his 2002 return as he did on his 1997-2001 
returns, the same conditions still apply for 2002. 
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fraudulent on Schiff’s 1997 – 2002 tax returns was “compelled,” and the Government is barred 

by the 5th Amendment and Rule 11(c)(3) from introducing and using such compelled information 

to convict Schiff of anything, since he provided the information in order to avoid criminal 

prosecution, and consequently all such information was “compelled.”  Schiff still believes that 

there is no law that “requires” him to file.  Therefore, he filed the returns at issue simply to avoid 

criminal prosecution for failure to file.  Schiff did not file those 1997 – 2002 returns voluntarily.     

  In order for the Government to use Schiff’s 1997- 2002 returns against him, the 

Government has to maintain that Schiff filed those returns “voluntarily.”  However, based on 1) 

Schiff’s previous prosecutions for failure to file, 2) the statements contained in United States v. 

Schiff, 612 F.2d 73 (1979), 3) the statements contained in Schiff’s 1997 – 2001 tax returns, and 

4) based on the actions taken by the Government against defendant Cynthia Neun for not filing 

and the very wording as contained in Counts 26 – 28, any such a claim would be ludicrous on its 

very face.   

   THEREFORE, since Schiff’s 1997-2002 income tax returns cannot be introduced at trial 

and used against him, the Government has failed to charge in counts 18 – 23 an alleged offense 

for which criminal prosecution is legally possible.  For this, and other reasons, counts 18 - 23 

must be dismissed. 

 
Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 1746, I  certify under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true 

and correct.   

Executed: June 14, 2004     

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED 
 

    _____________                                             
       Irwin A. Schiff, pro per      
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 




